Page 1

Nalcor Energy – Lower Churchill Project



2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Herd

Nalcor Doc. No. ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01

Comme	ents:					Total # of Pages: (Including Cover):
		, Eshi				15
			and the first		1	
	S-16					
					en des je je	
	:		1111	I Martine State		100
		191 -			1 8/1	1. 1/1m
B1	03-Jan-2016	Issued for Use	da 22	India	/ XU	1 MIC
DI		issued for Use	Leah Fudge	David Haley	David Gree	n Bor Power
Status / Revision	Date	Reason for Issue	Prepared by	Functional Manager Approval	Quality Assura Approval	nce General Project Manager Approval

Page 2

2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Herc	I	
Nalcor Doc. No.	Revision	Page
ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01	B1	2

Inter-Departmental / Discipline Approval (where required)

Department	Department Manager Approval	Date
	n/a	

Г

Page 3

2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Herd		
Nalcor Doc. No.	Revision	Page
ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01	B1	3

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

1	PURPOSE	4
2	SCOPE	4
3	DEFINITIONS	4
4	ABBREVIATIONS & ACRONYMS	4
5	REFERENCE DOCUMENTS	5
6 6.1	PROJECT DESCRIPTION LABRADOR-ISLAND TRANSMISSION LINK (L-ITL)	
7	CARIBOU	
7.1	EXISTING INFORMATION	8
7.2	MITIGATION AND MONITORING	8
7.3	REPORTING	11
8	REFERENCES	14

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES	PAGE
Figure 6-1 Labrador-Island Transmission Link	7
Figure 7-1 Mealy Mountain Herd Survey Transect Location	
Table 7-1 Summary of the 2015 Threatened Caribou Reports	12

2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Herc	l	
Nalcor Doc. No.	Revision	Page
ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01	B1	4

1 PURPOSE

The purpose of this annual report is to provide a summary of the mitigation and monitoring efforts associated with the Labrador-Island Transmission Link (LITL) Endangered Species Act - Listed Plants Impacts Mitigation and Monitoring Plan (IMMP), specifically the Mealy Mountain Herd (MMH) Caribou during 2015.

2 SCOPE

This annual report applies to the 2015 monitoring and mitigation efforts for the MMH undertaken for the Labrador Island Transmission Link (LITL) as described in Section 6.0.

3 DEFINITIONS

Environmental Assessment: The evaluation of the Project's potential environmental risks and effects before it is carried out and identification of ways to improve project design and implementation to prevent, minimize, mitigate, or compensate for adverse environmental effects and to enhance positive effects.

Environmental Management: The management of human interactions with the environment (e.g., air, water and land and all species that occupy these habitats including humans).

Environmental Management System: Part of LCP's management system used to develop and implement its environmental policy and manage its environmental aspects.

Environmental Protection Plan: Document outlining the specific mitigation measures, contingency plans and emergency response procedures to be implemented during the construction or operations of the Project.

Environmental Effects Monitoring: Monitoring of overall Project effects to confirm the predictions of the EIS (Nalcor 2011) and to fulfill commitments.

Environmental Compliance Monitoring: Monitoring of Project activities to confirm compliance with regulatory requirements and commitments.

4 ABBREVIATIONS & ACRONYMS

- EA Environmental Assessment
- EIS Environmental Impact Statement
- **ELC** Ecological Land Classification
- EMP Environmental Management Plan
- EPP Environmental Protection Plan
- EMS Environmental Management System
- ERC Environment and Regulatory Compliance
- JRH Joir River Herd
- KI Key Indicator

2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Herd					
	Nalcor Doc. No.	Revision	Page		
	ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01	B1	5		
LTA	Labrador Transmission Asset				
LCP	Lower Churchill Project				
LWCRT	Labrador Woodland Caribou Recovery Team				
ММН	Mealy Mountain Herd				
NE	Nalcor Energy				
NLESA	Newfoundland and Labrador Endangered Species Act				
NLENCC-WD	Newfoundland and Labrador Department of Environment and Climate	Change – Wildlife	e Division		
OSEM	On-Site Environmental Monitor				
PEEMP	Protection and Environmental Effects Monitoring Plan				
SARA	federal Species at Risk Act				
SAR IMMP	Species at Risk Impacts Mitigation and Monitoring Plan				
SSAC	Species Status Advisory Committee				

REFERENCE DOCUMENTS 5

LCP-PT-ED-0000-EA-SY-0002-01	Labrador-Island Transmission Link Environmental Impact
	Statement
ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-PL-0002-01	Labrador-Island Transmission Link Endangered Species Act -
	Listed Plants Impacts Mitigation and Monitoring Plan

2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Her	d	
Nalcor Doc. No.	Revision	Page
ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01	B1	6

6 **PROJECT DESCRIPTION**

6.1 LABRADOR-ISLAND TRANSMISSION LINK (L-ITL)

The Labrador –Island Transmission Link consists of the Construction and Operations of a \pm 350 kilovolt (kV) High Voltage direct current (HVdc) electricity transmission system from Central Labrador to the Avalon Peninsula on the Island of Newfoundland (the Island) (Figure 6-1).

The transmission system will include the following key components:

- An alternating current (ac) to direct current (dc) converter station at Muskrat Falls;
- Approximately 400 km overhead HVdc transmission line from Muskrat Falls to Forteau Point;
- A 60 m wide Right Of Way (ROW);
- Three, approximately 35 km long, submarine cables across the Strait of Belle Isle (SOBI) (i.e., between Forteau Point and Shoal Cove), with associated onshore infrastructure (transition compounds and land cables at both cable landings);
- Approximately 700 km of overhead HVdc transmission line from Shoal Cove to the Avalon Peninsula;
- A dc to ac converter station at Soldiers Pond;
- Shoreline electrodes at L'Anse au Diable and Dowden's Point,
- An overhead, wood pole electrode line
 - o Near Forteau Point and L'Anse au Diable; and
 - o Between Soldiers Pond and Dowden's Point.

Page 7

2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Herd		
Nalcor Doc. No.	Revision	Page
ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01	B1	7



Figure 6-1 Labrador-Island Transmission Link

Г

2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Herd

Nalcor Doc. No.	Revision	Page
ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01	B1	8

7 CARIBOU

7.1 EXISTING INFORMATION

As described in Nalcor (2011), woodland caribou (*Rangifer caribou*) are an important cultural, economic, and ecosystem component in Labrador, supplying a hunting resource for residents and prey for wildlife. Caribou within Labrador are classified as one of three ecotypes: (i) sedentary, (ii) migratory, or (iii) montane (Bergerud et al. 2008; Boulet et al. 2005; Thomas and Gray 2002). Sedentary caribou are the forest dwelling ecotype that undergoes a seasonal dispersion (rather than migration) during calving (Bergerud et al. 2008).

Sedentary populations of woodland caribou in the province are considered Threatened under the NLESA, and occur in the lower Churchill River watershed. Sedentary herds that occur in the vicinity of the Project include the Red Wine Mountains (RWM) Herd and the MMH, which includes the Joir River Herd (JRH) subpopulation (Bergerud et al. 2008). The status of the MMH is stable. Although hunting is prohibited (protected by NLESA), hunting has been identified as the major threat to the MMH as illegal hunting of the herd, including the Joir River group, has occurred recently.

The Red Wine Mountains Herd Annual Report for 2015 is found under a separate cover (LCP-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0015-01).

7.2 MITIGATION AND MONITORING

As described in the Labrador-Island Transmission (LITL) Link Endangered Species Act - Listed Plants Impacts Mitigation and Monitoring Plan (IMMP), the effects management measures (i.e., mitigation measures outlined in the EIS [Nalcor 2011]) the LCP Integrated Project Wide Environmental Protection Plan (Nalcor 2014), and the commitments made by the Project to ensure regulatory compliance of the above discussed Acts and regulations included:

- All site personnel shall receive training to recognize any Endangered, Threatened or Vulnerable species of plant or animal and its habitat prior to the start of clearing and any other site activities;
- Personal pets are not permitted on the construction site;
- Buffer zones (of various distances) shall be implemented to protect wildlife at the site;
- Hunting is prohibited at the construction site. All Project participants shall be prohibited from hunting at the construction site while working on the Project;
- Under no circumstances are wildlife to be fed and all measures shall be taken to avoid inadvertent feeding;
- Wildlife shall not be chased, caught, diverted, followed or otherwise harassed by Project participants;
- All wildlife sightings and nuisance wildlife shall be reported to the On-Site Environmental Monitor (OSEM) who will oversee various mitigation measures and collect observation and other monitoring data related to wildlife;
- The Forestry Branch shall be contacted and updated with regards to nuisance wildlife and wildlife encounters;
- Equipment and vehicles shall yield the right-of-way to wildlife and adhere to construction site speed limits. Speed limits associated with Project access roads vary from 10 60 km/hr, and are set as per the

Page 8

Page 9

2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Herd

Nalcor Doc. No.	Revision	Page
ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01	B1	9

regulatory requirements set by the Department of Transportation and Works. LCP enforces speed limits on all Project roads;

- LCP will create breaks every 500 m in snow berms alongside roads to enable caribou crossings;
- Where possible, the design of ROW will provide clear sightlines for caribou across the width of the ROW;
- Environmental awareness training, with regular briefings, shall be implemented for all personnel;
- Firearms shall not be permitted on site, with exception of approved bear monitors;
- Where possible, scheduling of activities will be limited and adaptable during calving and post-calving periods as well as during sensitive periods in the winter for caribou (LCP will consult with the NLENCC-WD in such instances);
- Maintain higher flight altitudes (300 agl or higher) during the 'critical' periods (as defined below as sensitive periods) during flights and monitoring programs. If caribou are startled ascend to a higher flight path or veer away.
- When caribou (based on collar or observational data) occupy an area under construction/development, LCP will contact the NLENCC-WD to determine if appropriate mitigation can be put into place or if activities must be suspended at that location (see below);
- When roads not essential to long-term maintenance are not needed, they will be decommissioned, habitat stabilized, and access shall be restricted;
- Temporary decommissioning of access roads may be considered if Project construction is considerably delayed;
- If access roads are deemed to be necessary during the operations and maintenance phase of the Project, LCP will consult with NLENCC-WD regarding the implementation of access control measures;
- The LCP will continue its participation as an observer on the Labrador Woodland Caribou Recovery Team and support of related research such as the telemetry monitoring program; and
- If necessary, access control measures will be applied in certain areas associated with facilities and/or ongoing activities to prevent disturbance of individual caribou:
 - the reservoir preparation approach will be mostly river based, thereby reducing the need for access from the TLH
 - existing access points will be used;
 - o signage in the Project area will be used to deter access; and
 - site security will be in place during construction at the South Side Access Road and other Project locations to restrict public access.

Weekly telemetry of MMH individuals within 20 km of the Project are provided to LCP who map the locations and issue advisories on the approximate location of caribou with respect to Project activities. Depending on the proximity of caribou observations from the Project, different mitigation scenarios were then applied.

The following describes specific potential interaction scenarios and the associated mitigation:

- Scenario 1 Caribou within 20 km of Project activities (based on satellite telemetry or other reports)
 - OSEM will conduct weekly visual surveys of 10 km radius around each activity from roadaccessible vantage points for caribou or signs of caribou (i.e., winter craters, tracks or scat)
 - If present, wildlife observations will be included in the weekly environmental report to be sent to NLENCC-WD in Corner Brook (whenever Project activities are ongoing),

Page 10

2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Herd

Nalcor Doc. No.	Revision	Page
ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01	B1	10

and such information will be presented during environmental awareness training and regular briefings for all personnel

- Scenario 2 Caribou within 5 km of Project activities (based on satellite telemetry or other reports)
 - OSEM to issue advisory to all Project personnel that all sightings of caribou to be reported immediately to the OSEM. The OSEM will then immediately notify all vehicle operators.
 - OSEM will conduct daily visual surveys of 10 km radius around each activity from roadaccessible vantage points for caribou or signs of caribou (i.e., winter craters, tracks or scat).
 - If present, wildlife observations will be included in the weekly environmental report to be sent to NLENCC-WD in Corner Brook
- Scenario 3 Caribou present during sensitive time periods
 - To reduce disturbance to caribou during the late winter and late pregnancy periods, NLENCC-WD has identified two sensitive time periods during which Project activities may be restricted, delayed or minimized:
 - 1) A cautionary period (late winter) February 3 to April 15
 - If Project activities are to occur within 4 km of the known presence of caribou based on satellite telemetry or other reports, work activities are to be rescheduled.
 - 2) A critical period (calving/immediately post-calving) May 30 to July 15
 - No Project activities are permitted within important and highly used core calving areas.
 - No blasting is to occur within a 2.5 km buffer of the core calving areas.
- Scenario 4 Blasting at the Main Site at Muskrat Falls
 - Prior to blasting, the OSEM will conduct a visual survey
 - o If caribou are within 3 km of the site, blasting will be delayed until caribou have left the area
 - Methods to encourage caribou to leave the area may be implemented in consultation with NLENCC-WD
 - Note, if LCP can demonstrate the planned blasting activity will not likely result in a behavioural response by caribou, the 3 km radius may be reduced.
- Scenario 5 Other Project activities (e.g., grubbing, grading and leveling, laydown and storage of
 equipment and material in existing areas, generators to support the activity, vehicle and heavy
 equipment use, handling and transfer of fuel and other hazardous material, waste disposal, sewage
 disposal and hazardous waste disposal, localized and low intensity blasting, tower erection and
 conductor stringing)
 - As these activities would not be audible beyond a short distance, if caribou are observed within 500 m of such an activity, the OSEM will determine if the activity will be delayed or curtailed
 - $\circ~$ Wildlife interactions will be included in the weekly environmental report to be sent to NLENCC-WD

2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Herd				
Nalcor Doc. No.	Revision	Page		
ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01	B1	11		

Aerial Winter Survey

Between February 27 and February 28, 2015, an aerial survey was conducted of wintering areas for the MMH (see Figure 7-1). The survey was conducted by three observers and a helicopter pilot. The survey followed preselected transects spaced at 2 km intervals, with additional transects added in areas deemed to be of high importance by NLENCC-WD. A Bell 206L Long Ranger was used throughout the survey, and was flown at 100 km/hr at an altitude of approximately 150 m above ground level. On February 27, one male was observed, and on February 28, one adult and one calf was observed – a total of three caribou were observed during the survey.



Figure 7-1 Mealy Mountain Herd Herd Survey Transect Locations

7.3 REPORTING

A compilation of daily environmental reports were submitted to NLENCC-WD on a weekly basis. These reports provide a synopsis of completed activities, and a weekly look-ahead.

Throughout the 2015 construction year, LCP maintained frequent communications with the provincial NLENCC-WD regarding the movements of MMH individuals within or near the Project area.

Page 12

2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Herd			
Nalcor Doc. No.	Revision	Page	
ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01	B1	12	

In addition to the high-level weekly report, LCP also submitted a detailed Threatened Caribou Report weekly. This report presented the results of the telemetry observations, the mitigation scenario that applied, and the results of the surveys completed by the on-site environmental monitors, and any other surveys and observations recorded by project personnel. As the telemetry results are confidential, Table 7-1 provides a summary of the contents of the reports submitted to NLENCC-WD in 2015.

Table 7-1 Summary of the 2015 Threatened Caribou Reports

	Caribou within 20 km	Number of Caribou within	Daily or Weekly	Caribou observations from surveys	Number of
Week Ending	(Y/N)	20 km	Surveys	(Y/N)	Observations
16-Jan-15	Y	1	Weekly	Ν	None
23-Jan-15	Υ	1	Weekly	Ν	None
30-Jan-15	Υ	1	Weekly	Ν	None
6-Feb-15	Υ	1	Weekly	Ν	None
20-Feb-15	Ν	0	None	N	None
27-Feb-15	Υ	1	Weekly	Ν	None
13-Mar-15	Ν	0	None	Ν	None
20-Mar-15	Υ	2	Weekly	N	None
27-Mar-15	Υ	2	Daily	Ν	None
3-Apr-15	Ν	0	None	Ν	None
10-Apr-15	Υ	2	Weekly	N	None
17-Apr-15	Υ	2	Weekly	N	None
24-Apr-15	Υ	2	Weekly	Ν	None
1-May-15	Υ	4	Weekly	N	None
8-May-15	Υ	4	Weekly	N	None
15-May-15	Υ	17	Weekly	Ν	None
22-May-15	Υ	7	Weekly	N	None
29-May-15	Υ	18	Daily	Ν	None
5-Jun-15	Υ	12	Daily	Ν	None
12-Jun-15	Υ	6	Daily	Ν	None
19-Jun-15	Υ	5	Daily	N	None
26-Jun-15	Υ	6	Weekly	N	None
3-Jul-15	No data	No data	Daily	Υ	2
9-Jul-15	Υ	5	Daily	N	None
17-Jul-15	Υ	4	Daily	N	None
24-Jul-15	Υ	4	Daily	N	None
31-Jul-15	Υ	1	Weekly	N	None
7-Aug-15	Υ	3	Daily	Ν	None

2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Herd

Nalcor Doc. No.	Revision	Page
ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01	B1	13

	Caribou within 20 km	Number of Caribou within	Daily or Weakly	Caribou observations	Number of	
Week Ending	(Y/N)	20 km	Daily or Weekly Surveys	from surveys (Y/N)	Observations	
	Y	3	· ·			
14-Aug-15	Y	3	Daily	N	None	
21-Aug-15	Y	4	Daily	Y		1
21-Sep-15	Y	2	Daily	Y		1
28-Sep-15	Y	2	Daily	Ν	None	
17-Oct-15	Y	4	Weekly	Ν	None	
26-Oct-15	Y	4	Weekly	N	None	
9-Nov-15	Y	2	Weekly	Ν	None	
16-Nov-15	Y	2	Weekly	Ν	None	
23-Nov-15	Υ	2	Weekly	Υ		1
30-Nov-15	Υ	2	Weekly	Y		1
7-Dec-15	Υ	4	Weekly	Ν	None	
14-Dec-15	Υ	2	Daily	Ν	None	

Page 14

2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Herd

Nalcor Doc. No.	Revision	Page
ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01	B1	14

8 **REFERENCES**

- Bergerud, C. S.N. Luttich and L. Camps. 2008. *The Return of Caribou to Ungava*. McGill-Queen's Native and Northern Series, 50. McGill-Queen's University Press, Montreal, QC.
- Boulet, M., S. Couturier, S.D. Côté, R. Otto and L. Bernatchez. 2005. *Gene Flow Patterns between Migratory, Montane and Sedentary Caribou Herds of Northern Quebec and Labrador: Lessons from Satellite T Tracking, Microsatellite Genotyping, and Population Simulations*. Ministère des Resources naturelles et de la Faune, Direction de la recherché sur la faune, Québec. 46 pp.
- Cameron, R.D., D.J. Reed, J.R. Dau and W.T. Smith. 1992. Redistribution of calving caribou in response to oil field development on the Arctic Slope of Alaska. *Arctic* 45: 338-342.
- Chubbs, T.E., T.S. Jung, R.P. Otto, C. Jones, and F.R. Phillips. 2001. Population status and distribution of two woodland caribou herds in Labrador. In: *9th North American Caribou Workshop,* April 23-27, Kuujjuaq, Quebec. Canada.
- Couturier, S., R. Courtois, H. Crépeau, L.-P. Rivest and S. Luttich. 1996. Calving Photocensus of the Rivière George Herd and Comparison with an Independent Census. *Rangifer Special Issue* 9: 283-296.
- Curatolo, J.A. and S.M. Murphy. 1986. The effects of pipelines, roads and traffic on the movements of caribou, *Rangifer tarandus. Canadian Field-Naturalist* 100(2): 218-224.
- Dyer, S.J., J.P. O'Neill, S.M. Wasel and S. Boutin. 2001. Avoidance of Industrial Development by Woodland Caribou, Journal of Wildlife Management 65: 531-542.
- Environment Canada. 2012. Recovery Strategy for Woodland Caribou (*Rangifer tarandas caribou*), Boreal population, in Canada. *Species at Risk Act* Recovery Strategy Series. Environment Canada, Ottawa. xi + 138 pp.
- Government of Canada. 2012. Species at Risk public Registry: Schedule 1 List of Wildlife Species at Risk. Available at: http://www.sararegistry.gc.ca/species/schedules_e.cfm?id=1s. Accessed on: 16 April 2012.
- Government of Canada. 2002. Species at Risk Act, 2002. Available at: <u>http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/S-</u>15.3/page-1.html. Accessed on: 12 April 2012.
- Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. 2004. *Endangered Species Act, 2004.* Available at: http://www.assembly.nl.ca/Legislation/sr/statutes/e10-1.htm#31_. Accessed on: 13 April 2012.
- Harrington, F.H. and A.M. Veitch. 1991. Short-term impacts of low-level jet fighter training on Caribou in Labrador. *Arctic* 44(4):318-327.
- Maier, J.A., S. M. Murphy, R. G. White and M. D. Smith. 1998. Responses of caribou to overflights by low-altitude jet aircraft. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 62(2): 752-766
- Manly, B.F.J., L.L. Macdonald, D.L. Thomas, T.L. McDonald and W.P. Erickson. 2002. *Resource selection by animals.* Kluwer Academic Publishers, Netherlands.
- Manly, B.F.J., P. Miller and L.M. Cook. 1972. Analysis of a selective predation experiment. *The American Naturalist*. 106(952): 719 735.
- Nalcor Energy 2014. Lower Churchill Project HVdc Overland Transmission and HVdc Specialties Environmental Protection Plan (LCP-PT-MD-0000-EV-PL-0010-01)

Page 15

2015 Annual Caribou Report — Mealy Mountain Herd

Nalcor Doc. No.	Revision	Page
ILK-PT-MD-0000-EV-RP-0004-01	B1	15

- NatureServe. 2007. NatureServe Explorer: An Online Encyclopedia of Life. Version 6.2. NatureServe, Arlington, Virginia. Available at http://www.natureserve.org/explorer.
- NLDEC. 2013. Hunting Ban announced on George River Caribou Hunting Season. News Release, 13 January 2013. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. St. John's, NL. http://www.releases.gov.nl.ca/releases/2013/env/0128n08.htm
- NLDEC. 2011. Measures implemented for 2011-12 George River Caribou Hunting Season. News Release, 19 December 2011. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. St. John's, NL. Available at: http://www.releases.gov.nl.ca/releases/2011/env/1219n04.htm. Accessed on: March 6, 2012.
- NLDEC 2010. Our Wildlife Spring 2010. Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, St. John's NL. http://www.env.gov.nl.ca/env/publications/wildlife/our_wildlife_spring2010.pdf
- Northland and Jacques Whitford. 2000. Winter Moose Survey. Northland Associates (1995) Ltd and Jacques Whitford Environment Limited report prepared for Churchill River Power Project – 1999 Environmental Studies, LHP 99-25.
- Russell, J., S. Couturier, L.G. Sopuck and K. Ovaska. 1996. Post-calving Photo-census of the Rivière George Caribou Herd in July 1993. *Rangifer Special Issue* No. 9: 319-330.
- Schaefer, J.A., A.M. Veitch, F.H. Harrington, W.K. Brown, J.B. Theberge and S.N. Luttich. 1999. Demography of decline of the Red Wine Mountains caribou herd. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 63: 580-587.
- Schmelzer, I. 2012. Range use, life history and trends in abundance of forest-dwelling *threantened* caribou populations in Labrador: An overview. Wildlife Division, Department of Environment and Conservation, Corner Brook, NL.
- Schmelzer, I., J. Brazil, T. Chubbs, S. French, B. Hearn, R. Jeffery, L. LeDrew, H. Martin, A. McNeill, R. Nuna, R.
 Otto, F. Phillips, G. Mitchell, G. Pittman, N. Simon and G. Yetman. 2004. *Recovery Strategy for Three Woodland Caribou Herds (Rangifer tarandus Caribou; Boreal population) in Labrador*. Department of Environment and Conservation, Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, Corner Brook.
- Thomas, D.C. and D.R. Gray. 2002. COSEWIC Assessment and update status report on the woodland caribou, Rangifer tarandus caribou, in Canada. COSEWIC Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada, pp 1-98. Environment Canada, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.
- Trimper, P.G., E. Young and T. Chubbs. 1996. Distribution of wintering moose in Labrador and northeastern Québec. ALCES 32: 41-49.
- Yukon Renewable Resources. 1996. Woodland Caribou Management Guidelines. Whitehorse. 9 pp.